IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

	SCA EFiled: Jan 26 2023 04:38PM EST Transaction ID 69007426	
CHARLESTON, V	VEST VIRGINIA	
NO. 22	2-674	
STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,		
Plaintiff below, Respondent,		
v.	Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Berkeley County (20-F-213)	
JOSEPH WAYNE MASON		
Defendant Below, Petitioner.		
PETITIONE	R'S BRIEF	

Counsel For Petitioner:

Jason T. Gain (WV Bar #12353) Losh Mountain Legal Services P.O. Box 578 Anmoore, WV 26323 Phone: (304) 506-6467

Fax: (304) 715-3605 wvlawyer13@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) The lower court erred by allowing into evidence a social media post without sufficient authentication.
- 2) The lower court erred by permitting the discussion of res gestae and/or 404 (b) evidence related to the Petitioner's gang and drug affiliations and his dislike of police informants.
- 3) The lower court erred by permitting improper hearsay testimony under the guise of a "prior consistent statement."
- 4) The lower court erred by failing to sever the Petitioner's trial from that of his codefendant.
- 5) The effects of these errors are cumulative, and they combined to deny the Petitioner a fundamentally fair trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 28, 2014, Taylor Hawkridge was found senselessly murdered in Berkeley County, West Virginia. Appendix Record ("A.R.") at 22. The murder occurred between 3:35 and 3:36 a.m. *Id.* at 1145. She was shot twice in her driveway after returning home and witnesses reported seeing a black vehicle with round taillights in the area at the time of her killing. *Id.* at 1122-23. The police began their investigation after getting reports that Ms. Hawkridge was in a verbal altercation at Vixen's Gentlemen's club, which was her place of employment. *Id.* at 1125; 1127. She had allegedly gotten into this altercation with Nasstashia Van Camp Powell (sometimes "Nas") because Ms. Hawkridge was having relations with her boyfriend, Petitioner Joseph Mason. *Id.* at 1131.

The police interviewed Ms. Powell and noted that she arrived at the police station driving a black Dodge Charger, consistent with the vehicle observed driving away from the

¹The police also determined that Ms. Hawkridge was working as a confidential informant due to her arrest for dealing drugs but did not pursue this avenue at the time. *Id.* at 90.

murder scene. *Id.* at 1131. The police obtained a search warrant for the phone and determined that she was the "girlfriend" of Petitioner Joseph Mason. *Id.* at 1136.

In September 2014, the police got what could only be called incredibly good luck as someone, possibly Ms. Powell, posted from her Facebook account:

Joey's my baby daddy. No, I didn't kill Taylor. Yes, Tiara Brown showed me where she lived at on that Tuesday. Taylor was a snitch. No one wants to talk about that, how she got caught up and decided to roll on people. Guess people want to keep that a secret to weight (sic) out the fact she's a good person. She's everyone's sister, everyone's friend. Well, I guess y'all snitching too. Yes, I found out where she lived for Joey. No, I didn't go there. When did I – no, I didn't know he was going to kill her. So, yes, Joey had something to do with it. Yes, it was my car. No, I wasn't there. And yes, I was at the club. New Nassy. I've living for me and my babies.

Id. at 1148-49. Ms. Powell denied posting this to her account. *Id.* at 1150. Based upon this post, the police received a search warrant for the black Dodge Charger but did not find anything. *Id.* at 1150-51. The police were eventually able to talk to Tiara Brown who told them that she had shown Ms. Powell where Taylor Hawkridge lived. *Id.* at 1151. In addition, the police determined that Ms. Powell's cell phone travelled to and from the murder scene at the appropriate times. *Id.* at 1152. Based upon this and Ms. Powell's inconsistent statements, she was indicted for the murder of Taylor Hawkridge in 2016. *Id.* at 1151-52.

After she was indicted, Ms. Powell approached the police with a different story. She first said that a Mr. Richard Small was the shooter. *Id.* at 1154-55. She stated that the Petitioner Mr. Mason send her a text message while at Vixen's to pick up Mr. Small. *Id.* at 1155. In November 2016, she gave more information about Mr. Mason, *id.* at 1156, and said that during the night of the murder she, Mr. Mason, and Mr. Small were all in contact with one another. *Id.* at 1159.

Ms. Powell proceeded to trial where she was convicted of second degree murder and due to a two-time recidivist enhancement received a determinate sentence of forty-five (45)

years in prison. *Id.* at 1161. During the trial the State proceeded on the theory that Ms. Powell murdered Ms. Hawkridge because of her jealousy of Ms. Hawkridge's relationship with her boyfriend Mr. Mason. *Id.* at 1240.

After her conviction, Ms. Powell was not done changing her narrative. *Id.* at 1162. She approached the police and implicated herself, Mr. Small, Mr. Mason, and now a Mr. Armistead Craig. *Id.* This was in exchange for a Rule 35 recommendation that she receive a thirty (30) year sentence instead of forty-five (45). *Id.* This marked the <u>seventh</u> and final time that she had told a different story for the police. *Id.* at 1231.

In addition, Ms. Powell led the police to where the murder weapon was found in March 2019 in a rusted condition alongside the road near the murder scene. *Id.* at 1213.

The State plowed ahead and at the October 2020 term of the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Mason and Mr. Small for the murder of Taylor Hawkridge. *Id.* at 22. Mr. Craig to date has never been charged. Mr. Mason filed a motion for a separate trial, *id.* at 24, which was denied by the circuit court. *Id.* at 29.

The evidence in this case was starkly different from that at Ms. Powell's trial. The State first introduced evidence that Taylor Hawkridge was working as a confidential informant and had purchased drugs from Armistead Craig in that capacity. *Id.* at 90; 1023. Mr. Craig communicated with Ms. Hawkridge after the controlled buy and "told her to be careful because the police may have observed the transaction." *Id.* at 1024.

The State's case was made largely through the testimony of Ms. Powell. In her narrative, she testified that she had previously met Mr. Small through Mr. Mason. *Id.* at 1329. On the evening preceding the early morning murder, Mr. Mason allegedly came to her house sometime after midnight. *Id.* at 1333. He asked her to go to Vixen's Gentlemen's Club. *Id.* at

1334. She did as instructed and although Mr. Mason was at the club, he neither sat nor spoke with her. *Id.* at 1335. After a short time, Mr. Mason allegedly texted her and instructed her to drive to Hagerstown to pick up Mr. Small at the Clarion Hotel. *Id.* at 1135-36.

Ms. Powell did so and when she picked up Mr. Small she noticed that he had a silver handgun. *Id.* at 1336. The two arrived at Taylor Hawkridge's residence, waited for her to get home, and Mr. Small got out of the car and shot her twice. *Id.* at 1338-39. Mr. Small returned to the car and Ms. Powell drove off, with Mr. Small disassembling the gun and throwing it out the window on the way. *Id.* at 1340.

Ms. Powell and Mr. Small returned to Hagerstown where they spent what was left of the night at Ms. Powell's cousin's home. *Id.* at 1339. The next day (or more precisely later the same day) she testified that Mr. Mason came to her cousin's home. *Id.* at 1341. She alleged that Mr. Mason and she had "a conversation" about the shooting. *Id.* After this conversation, Ms. Powell drove Mr. Mason to an undefined Sheetz store to meet Armistead Craig. *Id.* at 1342. Mr. Craig and another person were at Sheetz and Ms. Powell and Mr. Mason followed them to a Weis grocery store parking lot. *Id.* at 1343.

In the grocery store parking lot Ms. Powell testified that Mr. Mason went into the back seat of Mr. Craig's car where she observed him hand Mr. Mason a brown paper bag. *Id.* at 1344. She later determined that in the brown paper bag was ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) as Mr. Mason purportedly counted it in her presence. *Id.*

Mr. Mason then purportedly put seven thousand dollars (\$7000) back in the bag and took three thousand dollars (\$3000) out for himself. *Id.* at 1345. The two returned to the cousin's house where Mr. Mason gave the bag containing seven thousand dollars (\$7000) to Mr. Small. *Id.* Mr. Small then left with a woman named Bree. *Id.* at 1346.

The State further provided evidence that Mr. Mason sold drugs and was a member of the Crips gang. *Id.* at 1326-27; *see* Argument, Section II, *infra*. The State alleged that Mr. Mason's Instagram handle was Craccloc141. *Id.* at 1327. Critically, the State made much of the fact that a photograph had allegedly previously been posted to this Instagram account containing a picture of the same make and model firearm that was recovered near the murder scene. *Id.* at 1141; *see* Argument, Section I, *infra*. It made much of the fact that Mr. Mason allegedly did not like "snitches" or "rats." *Id.* at 1197-98.

The State further admitted evidence that Ms. Powell contacted Mr. Mason's phone at 3:40 a.m., approximately five minutes after the murder. *Id.* at 1146. Mr. Small's phone was in the same area as Ms. Powell's phone at the time of the murder. *Id.* at 1225.

In addition, the State called witness Tiffany Linton to purportedly provide a prior consistent statement in which Ms. Powell had told her about a few months after the murders that Mr. Mason was involved. *Id.* at 1442; see Argument Section III, *infra*. It also, in relevant part, provided testimony from "Bree" who observed Mr. Small's child holding the supposed ill gotten money. *Id.* at 1476. This was the entirety of the State's evidence against Mr. Mason.

After a jury trial, Mr. Mason and Mr. Small were convicted of first degree murder. *Id.* at 449. After a mercy phase, both men were denied mercy and without relief from this Court will spend the remainder of their lives in prison. *Id.* at 526.

Mr. Mason humbly comes to this Court seeking the relief discussed below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Mason was convicted, not because of powerful evidence against him, but because he is a person who does not look good to the eyes of an average West Virginia jury. He is a Crips gang member, drug dealer, and hates rats and snitches. He impregnates women he is not

married to and visits adult nude dancing clubs. He uses profanity and racial slurs on social media.

He was convicted, not because of what he did, but because of who he is. This is fundamentally unfair in our system. Joseph Mason deserved a trial on the merits of what he allegedly did and without the improper admission of collateral evidence, the State had nothing but bought and paid for testimony and there was much reasonable doubt.

The lower court allowed a gun picture that was not authenticated properly, admitted the above mentioned collateral bad act evidence, allowed improper bolstering testimony, and forced him to stand trial alongside an even more unsavory character. All of this combined to deny him a fair trial.

Anyone in this State, whether rich or poor, or even someone of a character that an average citizen might find distasteful like Mr. Mason deserves a whole lot better than the treatment he was given in Berkeley County which, without aid from this Court, will cost him the rest of this life.

The Court should reverse and remand the matter to give him a new, and this time a fair, trial.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner believes that argument under Rule 19 would be appropriate as this case involves both a case "involving assignments of error in the application of settled law" and "an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled." W.Va. R. of App. Pro. 19. The admission of the social media posts was clear error regarding settled law, and the 404 (b)/res gestae evidence that was introduced regarding drugs, gangs, and snitches was an abuse of discretion.

As such, he believes a memorandum decision would not be appropriate except insofar as the admission of the gun picture was such clear error that this case may be reversed in a memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court reviews questions of law under a *de novo* standard. *See, e.g., State v. Lilly*, 461 S.E.2d 101 (W.Va. 1995). A lower court's ruling on the authenticity of evidence is reviewed by an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Boyd*, Syl. Pt. 12, 796 S.E.2d 207 (W.Va. 2017). The admission of the prior bad act evidence, the motion for separate trials, and the admission of the so called "prior consistent statement" is also reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Huffman*, 87 S.E.2d 541 (W.Va. 1955).

I. <u>The lower court erred by allowing into evidence a social media post without sufficient</u> authentication.

"Under Rule 901(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, social media text messages may be authenticated innumerous ways including, for example, by a witness who was a party to sending or receiving the text messages, or through circumstantial evidence showing distinctive characteristics that link *the sender to the text messages*." *State v. Benny W.*, Syl. Pt. 2, 837 S.E.2d 679 (W.Va. 2019) (emphasis added).

In *Benny W.*, this Court cited with approval:

The need for authentication arises in this context because an electronic communication, such as a Facebook message, an e-mail or a cell phone text message, could be generated by someone other than the named sender. This is true even with respect to accounts requiring a unique user name and password, given that account holders frequently remain logged into their accounts while leaving their computers and cell phones unattended. Additionally, passwords and website security are subject to compromise by hackers. Consequently, **proving only that a message came from a particular account, without**

<u>further authenticating evidence, has been held to be inadequate proof of authorship.</u>

Id. at 684 (emphasis added) (internal citation omitted). In this matter, the alleged picture of a .45 caliber pistol on what was purportedly Mr. Mason's Instagram account was critical to the State even seeking an indictment against Mr. Mason instead of not pursuing any case as with Mr. Craig. A.R. at 1225; 1322. The picture can be found at Appendix Record page 64.

Upon receiving the picture in discovery, the Petitioner moved for its exclusion because, in relevant part, "[i]t is unknown when this particular screenshot was taken, who took the screenshot, or on what electronic device the screenshot was captured. Further, it is unknown when the original photograph was taken, who took the original photograph, who posted this photograph to Instagram, or when the photograph was posted to Instagram." *Id.* at 32. The Petitioner continued, "[t]here is no proof that the Defendant was the actual person that took the original photo, was in possession of the original photo, posted the photo on Instagram, or drafted the caption." *Id.* at 33.

The State responded below by making much of the fact that the *Instagram account* was Mr. Mason's. *Id.* at 40-42. ("[t]here are a number of characteristics of the Instagram post that make it clear that it was properly attributed to the Instagram account of Joseph Mason.") It cited *Benny W.* (miscited as Barney W.) for the proposition. *Id.* at 41. It concluded:

The Defendant argues that even if the State can prove the account belonged to the Defendant Mason, the State cannot prove who posted the picture. The State counters that there is a clear inference that someone who opens a social media account and frequently posts on that account is the actual person doing the posting. Nevertheless, if the Defendant wishes to purse the claim that someone else posted the photograph to his account, then that is a question of fact to be determined by the jury and is not an issue of admissibility.

Id. at 42. The State simply botched the argument. Benny W. says the exact opposite of what the State argued. Benny W., 837 S.E.2d at 684. The lower court allowed the evidence "[u]pon the testimony of Sgt. Bowman and the arguments of counsel" at a hearing held on February 21, 2022 (sic). A.R. at 82.

The hearing was held on January 21, 2022, at which Sgt. Bowman testified. *Id.* at 625. Sgt. Bowman testified that he learned that Mr. Mason had an Instagram account (although he did not recall how) named "Craccloc141" which had a picture of Mr. Mason. *Id.* at 632. He testified that he personally "viewed those photos." *Id.* He further said that "we had printouts of those photos." *Id.* at 634. When asked if Ms. Powell was familiar with "[Mr. Mason]'s Instagram account, he replied:

A. Yes.

Q. Referring to the Instagram picture in dispute in this hearing, the picture of the gun, was she familiar with that particular post?

A. She had mentioned it during her statement, yes.

Q. Yes. And did she say that gun was similar or the same as the gun that was used in the murder of Taylor Hawkridge?

A. She believed it was the one that was used.

Q. She believed it was the gun?

A. Yes.

Id. at 637-38. The officer confirmed that the picture at issue was not found during the search of Mr. Mason's Instagram account but was "consistent with what Ms. Powell told [him] that that (sic) had been deleted." *Id.* at 641. On cross examination, Sgt. Bowman admitted that he did not know who took a screenshot of the photograph. *Id.* at 643. He admitted that the exhibit was not an actual screenshot, but a photograph of a printout of the screenshot. *Id.*

- Q. So someone took a picture of somebody's phone with that picture on it?
- A. I didn't know if they took a photo of the phone, but there's numbers down there, appears—maybe we printed it out and took a photo of it?
- Q. Even when you look at the bottom of this, you can see like it is a sheet of paper. So the document that we received **is actually a picture of a sheet of paper that was a picture of the screenshot.** Is that correct?
- A. A picture of the paper, that's what it appears, yes.
- Q. Yes. Okay. And do you know who provided these screenshots?
- A. I cannot recall who actually printed those off at that time.

Id. at 644 (emphasis added).

- Q. And you mentioned that Ms. Powell had said or Nas Ms. Van Camp –I guess she goes by several references to her name that she at one point said something mentioned something to you that she believed that a post of a gun was the same gun that was used?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now did you do that interview with her?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Eventually we did. I believe in the --- it was almost the last interview we had with her.
- *Id.* at 644-45. The State then argued that the picture had been authenticated and was admissible at trial:

As to authentication, I noted a case – I incorrectly cited the State v. Barty — it is State versus Barney. State versus Barney says there' a number of ways to authenticate witness testimony on social media evidence. Circumstantial evidence, distinctive characteristics met the standard among them. And that's not even exclusive. You can have other circumstantial evidence that shows that this is in fact not authentic piece of data.

We know that defendant went by Cracc. He identifies himself as a Crip. So his user name is Cracc, lover of Crips 141. His picture is his profile picture. His picture – he's got selfies throughout. And some of those were introduced into court. He's got selfies throughout these Instagram photos.

We have a witness who will say that she is aware of Joey Mason's Instagram accounts, Ms. Powell. That this was his Instagram account. That she did see the picture of the gun. And that she – it was from his account that she is familiar with.

Id. at 646-47. Aside from whiffing again on the *Benny W*. case name, the State again misapplied the relevant test. Mr. Mason pointed this out below:

The big factor, though, I think is authentication. The State in their response relies on State v. Barney to admit the photo. And I think the State believes that just because they can basically show that this post was on a social medial account, that that item can be attributed to the alleged owner of the account. And that's not at all what Barney says. Barney actually says that only proving that the message came from a particular account without further authentication – authenticating evidence has been held to be inadequate proof of authorship.

Id. at 651. Mr. Mason's argument below was indisputably correct.² However, the lower court nonetheless erroneously allowed the photograph:

Well, what we have is – what I am satisfied for the purposes of considering the admissibility of the evidence – is that the name of the account tracks a nickname and/or alias that Mr. Mason is known by and goes by. The Instagram account has his photograph. And within it has selfies that depict him, both singly and with others.

Ms. Powell, by circumstance, appears to be a person with knowledge of Mr. Mason and his social media account accounts. She is able to identify the gun, the location of the gun, as it was - in a location appeared to be consistent with the location of the murder.

. . .

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