# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA Mar 13 2023

**Docket No. 22-674** 

01:40PM EDT Transaction ID 69328195

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH WAYNE MASON,

Petitioner.

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the August 19, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Berkeley County Case No. 20-F-213

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARY BETH NIDAY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
West Virginia State Bar No. 9092
Office of the Attorney General
1900 Kanawha Blvd. E.
State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406
Charleston, WV 25305
Tol. (304) 558 5830

Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov

##

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

a picture from Petitioner's Instagram account depicting cash spread across his lap, parallel to a Gucci belt, captioned "This ain't tax money." (App. 46.)

## iii. Hatred of Confidential Informants.

Finally, the State sought to introduce evidence that Petitioner had a strong hatred of informants based on his status as a Crip gang member and a drug dealer. (App. 665.) The State sought to introduce testimonial and documentary evidence, including posts to Petitioner's Instagram account of news articles identifying someone as a "rat." (App. 665.) Throughout the comment section of his post, arguments continued where Petitioner told others commenting that he would punish people who talked to police and for being a snitch. (App. 665.) Here again, this evidence established Petitioner's motive to kill Ms. Hawkridge, who he believed to be working with police.

All together the facts of this case are similar to those set forth in *Miller*, wherein the State sought to introduce evidence that the murder victim had reported her boyfriend, the defendant, to law enforcement for dealing drugs. 184 W.Va. at 499, 401 S.E.2d at 244. The *Miller* Court concluded that "the probative value of the evidence was significant in that the victim reporting the appellant to law enforcement officials for his drug dealing clearly demonstrated a motive for her murder." *Id.* The same holds true in the instant case. The evidence is probative of Petitioner knowing Ms. Hawkridge was speaking to the authorities, which jeopardized his livelihood and liberty. His affiliation with the Crips bred a culture of hate for such informants. The evidence relating to Petitioner's motive and identity was properly admitted in the first instance as intrinsic but in the alternative as extrinsic evidence properly admitted under Rule 404(b) for a specific purpose. Petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.

C. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Ms. Linton's testimony as her testimony was not entirely inconsistent and was offered to confirm some of Ms. Powell's statements. To the extent Ms. Linton's testimony was inconsistent with Ms. Powell's testimony, it was properly admitted under Rule 613 as impeachment evidence.

#### 1. Standard of Review

"'A trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard.' Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Rodoussakis*, 204 W.Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998)." Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Gibbs*, 238 W. Va. 646, 797 S.E.2d 623, 625 (2017) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Timothy C.*, 237 W.Va. 435, 787 S.E.2d 888 (2016)).

## 2. Analysis

Petitioner argues that the trial court erred by allowing "improper hearsay testimony under the guise of a 'prior inconsistent statement." (Pet'r Br. 20–22.) Petitioner contends that the hearsay occurred when the State questioned Ms. Linton about her conversations with Ms. Powell related to the night of the murder and her role in the murder. (Pet'r Br. 20–21.) The lower court allowed Ms. Linton's testimony, finding that it was an issue for the jury. (Pet'r Br. 21.)

At trial, Ms. Powell testified that she discussed Ms. Hawkridge's murder with a friend of hers, Tiffany Linton. (App. 1396.) Ms. Powell recalled telling Ms. Linton that Mr. Small shot Ms. Hawkridge and that she drove the vehicle. (App. 1396–97.) During her testimony at trial, Ms. Powell said she never told Ms. Linton that she was supposed to pull the trigger but backed out at the last second, that Ms. Hawkridge was killed because she stole money from Petitioner to go to Las Vegas, that she was with Petitioner and Mr. Small at Vixen's on the night of the murder, or that she followed Ms. Hawkridge home that night. (App. 1397.)

Prior to the State calling Ms. Linton to the stand, Petitioner objected to Ms. Linton being offered "to corroborate a statement that Ms. Powell had prior given to her [Ms. Linton]." (App.

1435.) The trial court noted that Petitioner's cross-examination of Ms. Linton would be the place for him to address any inconsistency between Ms. Linton's testimony and Ms. Powell. (App. 1435.) The court concluded that it knew of no other simpler way to determine whether the statement is consistent or not "than simply lay it out in front of the jury and count on their good judgment to determine when they have been told something that's materially different over two different occasions." (App. 1436.)

The State subsequently called Ms. Linton to the stand who testified that she talked to Ms. Powell about the murder. (App. 1440.) Ms. Powell told her that law enforcement had impounded her car to be searched and she was worried about them "finding stuff out about her and [Ms. Hawkridge]." (App. 1440.) The State then asked Ms. Linton what Ms. Powell had told her, and Petitioner again objected as the question sought hearsay. (App. 1440–41.) The State responded that Ms. Linton's statement "is either consistent or inconsistent prior statement of [Ms. Powell]" and that certain aspects of Ms. Linton's testimony will confirm Ms. Powell's testimony. (App. 1441.) For that purpose, the trial court admitted the statement with a limiting instruction to the jury. (App. 1441.)

Ms. Linton then testified that during the summer of 2014, Ms. Powell told her that she, Petitioner, and Mr. Small were at the club where Ms. Hawkridge worked as a dancer, and that Petitioner told her and Mr. Small "to leave the club . . . to go kill [Ms. Hawkridge], because he thought that she was setting him up. Or that she had stole from him." (App. 1442.) When Ms. Powell and Mr. Small arrived at Ms. Hawkridge's house, Ms. Powell "couldn't pull the trigger, so she had rich do it." (App. 1442.)

Ms, Linton subsequently met Mr. Small through Ms. Powell when they exchanged vehicles—trading his rental Charger for her black Charge. (App. 1442–43.) Eventually, Mr. Small

and Ms. Linton formed a romantic relationship. (App. 1443.) Relating to the night of the murder, Mr. Small told Ms. Linton "he did what had to be done that night" and that "he did what [Ms. Powell] couldn't do." (App. 1443.) Ms. Linton testified that "[i]t was no secret that" Ms. Powell "was supposed to do it [shoot Ms. Hawkridge] because she got her Crip tattoo on her right arm." (App. 1443.)

On cross-examination, Ms. Linton was asked if it would surprise her that her testimony is inconsistent with Ms. Powell's testimony to which she responded, "That's what she told me." (App. 1457.)

Rule 801(c) defines hearsay as a statement that the declarant did not make while testifying that is offered by a party "to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement." W.Va. R. Evid. 801(c)(1), (2). This Court has long held:

Generally, out-of-court statements made by someone other than the declarant while testifying are not admissible unless: 1) the statement is not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but for some other purpose such as motive, intent, state-of-mind, identification or reasonableness of the party's action; 2) the statement is not hearsay under the rules; or 3) the statement is hearsay but falls within an exception provided for in the rules.

State v. Richardson, No. 18-0342, 2019 WL 4257084, at \*4 (W.Va. Supreme Court, Sept. 9, 2019) (memorandum decision) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Maynard, 183 W. Va. 1, 393 S.E.2d 221 (1990).

Petitioner argues that Ms. Linton's statements were "completely inconsistent with what Ms. Powell testified to at trial and should not have been admitted." (Pet'r Br. 22.) Ms. Linton's statements, however, are not excluded as hearsay because the statements were offered in part to confirm Ms. Powell's testimony—that Mr. Small shot Ms Hawkridge and Ms. Powell drove the vehicle—which they did.

To the extent Ms. Linton's testimony was inconsistent with Ms. Powell's testimony, "[a] witness can be impeached by statements made by [her] out of court only when such statements are contradictory to [her] testimony. If there is no substantial variance between such statements and [her] testimony, statements cannot be introduced for purposes of impeachment." *State v. Adkins*, 2021 WL 4935746, at \*5 (W.Va. Supreme Court Oct. 13, 2021) (memorandum decision). Rule 613 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence provides that "[e]xtrinsic evidence of a witness's prior inconsistent statement is admissible only if the witness is given an opportunity to explain or deny the statement and an adverse party is given an opportunity to examine the witness about it."

To the extent that Ms. Linton's testimony differed from that of Ms. Powell's her testimony constituted extrinsic evidence offered by the State to impeach their own witness who had given multiple differing stories of the events the night Ms. Hawkridge was killed. As such evidence is properly admissible under the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, the trial court did not commit reversible error and Petitioner's conviction must be affirmed.

D. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion to sever because he had no mandatory right to sever and it was in the best interest of justice to try Petitioner and Mr. Small together given the evidence was the same for both defendants.

#### 1. Standard of Review

"This Court will not reverse a denial of a motion to sever properly joined defendants unless the [petitioner] demonstrates an abuse of discretion resulting in clear prejudice." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Gibbs*, 238 W.Va. 646, 797 S.E.2d 623 (2017) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Boyd*, 238 W.Va. 420, 796 S.E.2d 207 (2017)).

#### 2. Analysis

Petitioner asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to sever because he was prejudiced by the statements of his co-defendant, Mr. Small, that were made during

police interrogations. (Pet'r Br. 23–24.) Petitioner further asserts that the judicially created discretionary standard of separate trials provided by Rule 14(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure violates the mandate for such provided in West Virginia Code § 62-3-8 in violation of the due process clause of the State and Federal Constitutions. (Pet'r Br. 22–23.) Petitioner's claims do not possess any merit and Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that he is entitled to relief.

Prior to the adoption of Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, this Court held "that a court does not have jurisdiction in a criminal case to try jointly those defendants who choose to be tried separately." State ex rel. Whitman v. Fox, 160 W.Va. 633, 646, 236 S.E.2d 565, 573 (1977). The Court's holding was premised upon West Virginia Code § 62-3-8, enacted in 1923, that provides: "If persons jointly indicted elect to be, or are, tried separately, the [jury] panel in the case of each shall be made up as provided in the third section of this article." Syl. Pt. 2, Whitman, 160 W.Va. 633, 236 S.E.2d 565. But in 2006, the current version of Rule 14(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure was adopted providing, "[i]f the joinder of defendants in an indictment, an information, or a consolidation for trial appears to prejudice a defendant or the State, the Court may sever the defendants' trials, or provide whatever other relief that justice requires." (emphasis added). Generally, this Court "should grant a severance under Rule 14(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure only if there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific right of one of the defendants or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence." Syl. Pt. 5, Boyd, 238 W.Va. 420, 796 S.E.2d 207 (emphasis added).

The narrow exceptions to the severance requirement were implemented "to prevent inconsistent verdicts and to conserve judicial and prosecutorial resources." *Boyd*, 238 W.Va. at

432, 796 S.E.2d at 219 (quoting *United States v. DeCologero*, 530 F.3d 36, 52 (1st Cir. 2008)). More importantly, "[w]hen defendants are properly joined, there is a strong presumption for their joint trial, as it gives the jury the best perspective on all of the evidence and therefore increases the likelihood of a correct outcome." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Lewis*, 557 F.3d 601, 609 (8th Cir. 2009)). "This presumption can only be overcome if the prejudice is severe or compelling." *Id.*; *see also Zafiro v. United States*, 506 U.S. 534 (1993) (finding that "[w]hen the risk of prejudice is high, a district court is more likely to determine that separate trials are necessary, but as we indicated . . ., less drastic measures, such as limiting instructions, often will suffice to cure any risk of prejudice."). "A defendant bears a heavy burden in gaining severance, and must pinpoint clear and substantial prejudice resulting in an[] unfair trial." *Boyd*, 238 W.Va. at 431, 796 S.E.2d at 218.

Petitioner does not dispute that he and his co-defendant were properly joined in a single indictment. Consequently, the "general rule" applies, which requires that defendants "indicted together are tried together," unless there exists some "severe or compelling" prejudice that results therefrom. *Boyd*, 238 W.Va. at 432, 769 S.E.2d at 219. Petitioner argues that he was prejudiced by the statements Mr. Small made to Sgt. Bowman, as testified to by Sgt. Bowman. (Pet'r Br. 24.) For instance, although Mr. Small never confessed, he told Sgt. Bowman he would like to help his investigation but he could not. (Pet'r Br. 24.)

The evidence against both Petitioner and Mr. Small was inextricably intertwined and arose from the same act or transaction. The evidence established that Petitioner conspired with Mr. Small and Ms, Powell to kill Ms. Hawkridge. For example, Ms. Powell provided Petitioner with Ms. Hawkridge's address and at Petitioner's request, drove the vehicle from which Mr. Small shot Ms. Hawkridge. (App. 1331–33, 1338–39.) After Mr. Small killed Ms. Hawkridge, Petitioner obtained

\$10,000 from Manny and Petitioner gave Mr. Small \$7,000 and Petitioner kept \$3,000. (App. 1341–45.) Moreover, the co-defendants did not present conflicting defenses. Despite Petitioner's statements to the contrary, Mr. Small's statements would have been admissible at a separate trial to establish the conspiracy, if nothing else as Mr. Small never confessed to the crimes. Alternatively, Mr. Small's statements would have been admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule.

Petitioner takes issue with the fact that prior to the amendment to Rule 14(b) in 2006, and pursuant to West Virginia Code § 62-3-8, "this Court held 'that a court does not have jurisdiction in a criminal case to try jointly those defendants who choose to be tried separately." *Boyd*, 238 W.Va. at 432, 796 S.E.2d at 219 (quoting *State ex rel. Whitman v. Fox*, 160 W.Va. 633, 646, 236 S.E.2d 565, 573 (1977)). This Court, however, has recognized the long-established precedent that rules promulgated under constitutional and statutory authority prevail whenever there is a conflict, real or perceived, between such rule and legislative provisions involving court procedures." *Games-Neely ex rel. W.Va. State Police v. Real Prop.*, 211 W.Va. 236, 244, 565 S.E.2d 358, 366 (2002); *see also* Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Wallace*, 205 W.Va. 155, 517 S.E.2d 20 (1999) ("The West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure are the paramount authority controlling criminal proceedings before the circuit courts of this jurisdiction; any statutory or common-law procedural rule that conflicts with these Rules is presumptively without force or effect."). Other than arguing in a conclusory manner that the Court should reverse itself because the right to a separate trial is "powerful," Petitioner provides any reason why the Court should reverse itself.

Based on the foregoing, the trial court properly denied Petitioner's motion to sever. "A defendant is not entitled to relief from prejudicial joinder pursuant to Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure[] when evidence of each of the crimes charged would be admissible

in a separate trial for the other." Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Gibbs*, 238 W. Va. 646, 797 S.E.2d 623 (2017). Petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.

#### E. Cumulative Error

#### 1. Standard of Review

"Where the record of a criminal trial shows that the cumulative effect of numerous errors committed during the trial prevented the defendant from receiving a fair trial, his conviction should be set aside, even though any one of such errors standing alone would be harmless error." *State v. Jeremy S.*, 243 W.Va. 523, 847 S.E.2d 125 (2020) (quoting Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Smith*, 156 W.Va. 385, 193 S.E.2d 550 (1972)).

#### 2. Analysis.

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